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  Yrhe Downtown Ottawa Historic District is a contiguous group
commercial structures located on the east side of the 200 

block of Main street and built within the same general time span 
in the late nineteenth century. While each building is indivi­ 
dualistic in appearance and detail, all have the same general 
underlying style and character typical of many small communities 
in mid-America. The uniqueness of this district lies in its 
almost unaltered facades and its great aesthetic compatibility.

The district is flanked on the north by the old People's 
National Bank which is situated at the south end of the 100 block 
of Main. The People's National Bank is a three-story building 
with Renaissance influences. Its walls are constructed of gray- 
brown brick with cut stone trim. A large stamped metal cornice 
with coupled brackets and dentils terminates the building at the 
roof line. The main entrance is located at the corner and is 
accented by flanking columns and a pedimented roof. Windows on 
the first floor are simple rectangles and are flanked by matching 
brick pilasters. Windows on the second and third floors are of 
the double hung sash type with stone sills and lintels. The 
lintels are shallow multifaced arches with integral keystones.

The Ring/ Barker and Smith Building jTerrill'sprv Goods) 
at 201-203 Main is a three-story structure designed in the 
Renaissance style with Eclectic leanings. The walls are con­ 
structed of dark red face brick with ornate cut stone trim. The 
building"is crowned" with a' large stamped metal cornice with corner 
turrets, coupled" brackets and small pointed arches. Immediately 
below the cornice is a band of decorative brickwork accented with 
recessed cross-like designs. A large pediment protrudes above" ~~ 
the roof line at the center of the building's front. Windows on 
the first floor are "of typical store front glass with cast iron 
columns. The second and third floor windows are narrow rectangles 
with shallow arched heads. The windows are separated by corbeled- 
out brick pilasters which have cut stone capitals. The window 
sills are cut stone and extend partially up each side. The cut 
stone lintels are ornamented with an intricate bas-relief design.

The 0. K. Photo building at 205 Main is a three-story Renais­ 
sance structure built of green-painted face brick. The buildiag 
cornice is of stamped metal with large coupled brackets and a low 
relief design. The windows on the first floor are large glass 
show windows. The second and third floor windows are small 
double hung sash with stone sills and arched stone lintels. The 
lintels extend down around the sides of the windows and terminate 
in rolled brackets.

The Button Jewelry building at 207 Main is a three-story 
structure designed in the Renaissance style. The walls are con­ 
structed ~of~ green-and tan-painted face brick with cut stone trim. 
The. r(oof line is accented, by a large stamped metal cornice with a 
.center pediment.' The pfirst floor is a simple store front configura­ 
tion. The second floor windows are slender rectangles with
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The city of Ottawa in Franklin county was'laid out in 1864 
on two half sections of land on the Marais des Cygnes river. 
This was an area formerly part of the'Osage and later the Ottawa 
Indian reservations. Title 'to the land passed from the Ottawas 
in 1864 when the tribe set aside 20,000 acres in trust to help 
establish Ottawa University. Portions of the trust lands were 
soon acquired by white settlers and investors, and the Ottawa 
Town Company was formed later the same year. The leading men 
of the town company were Rev. C. C. Hutchinson, the Indian agent, 
and Rev. I. S. Kalloch. Other prominent local members were 
John T. "Tauy" Jones, a Baptist minister and Indian leader, and 
James^JWind, chief of the Ottawas.
.X"The l£wn site was surveyed in the spring of 1864 by Edward 

wolcott. Early settlers pitched tents, and the first frame house 
was built on March 31. The prime objective.of the town company 
was to secure the location of the Franklin'"county seat, and 
lots were given away as an inducement for people to locate there 
and support the courthouse drive.    - -_,...,,

An election on August 1, 1864, to. determine the s;Lte of the 
county seat resulted in an overwhelming victory for Ottawa over 
three other contenders,. .Ottawa received 261 votes, Peoria 40, 
Ohio City 36, and Centropolis 1. The county records were offi­ 
cially moved to Ottawa from Ohio City on August 15, 1864. Accord­ 
ing to the county clerk, at the time he moved his office Ottawa 
"consisted of 15 or 20 dwellings, one store kept by an Ottawa 
Indian, and a large barn used for a hotel."

Frame business buildings were constructed on Main street in 
^ 1^6,0 \s - And as the town grew from 3,000 in 1870 to 6,200 
in 1890 and prospered, merchants and entrepreneurs began build­ 
ing more substantial brick and stone structures in the 1870's and 
1880's. By the 1890's both sides of Main street were lined for 
several blocks with two and three story buildings of brick and 

->stone. Many of them featured large highly ornate metal pediments 
cornices and decorative window lintels.

"" ~~   -.  _~_«,_- . .. "- 

Today Ottawa is a growing community of 12,500 and its business 
rict has changed with the passage of time and the development 
lew attitudes and tastes in architecture. Many of the" 19th " 
bury commercial structures have been modified or replaced,'arid
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decorative stone lintels. The lintels are flat with small pedi­ 
ments in the center. The third floor windows are also slender 
rectangles but with curved lintels. These lintels have arched 
pediments in the center. The windows are separated by a two- 
story brick pilaster.

The Pickrell Block (Plaza Theater) at 209-211 Main is a two- 
story brick and stone structure which now has a smooth, white- 
painted stucco exterior. A large theater marquee and a sidewalk 
awning have been added to the front.

Raffelock's Bargain Center building at 213 Main is a simple 
two-story structure with Renaissance features. The walls are 
constructed of white-glazed bricks with a rough hewn stone cap 
at the eaves. A large bay window flanked by two smaller windows 
at the second floor level provides an accent for the facade. 
The bay is three-sided with rectangular windows and an ornamental 
stamped bottom. The main store front is glass with a side entrance.

The Ottawa Typewriter building at 215 Main is a Renaissance- 
influenced two-story structure of face brick painted light gray. 
The dominant feature is a large stamped metal cornice which 
occurs at the roof line and is terminated at each end by a large 
bracket. At its center is a broken semicircular arch. Low 
relief further enhances the cornice. A band of brick corbeling 
sets the cornice apart from the wall below. The second floor 
windows are narrow rectangles with stone sills and ornamental 
cast iron lintels. Each lintel has a simulated keystone and end 
brackets.

Harley's Block (Bob's Squire Shoppe) at 217 Main is an Eclectic 
structure built of face brick laid in decorative patterns. Accenting 
the roof line is a large stamped metal cornice which has end 
brackets, triangular recesses, and a semicircular pediment in 
the middle. The second floor windows are located in recesses 
which have shallow arched tops and fluted brick pilasters. A 
cut stone is placed at the spring line of each arch. Massive cast 
iron lintels accent the rectangular windows.

A building occupied by the J. C. Penney Co. store at 219 
Main is a two-story structure in the Renaissance style. The walls 
are constructed of red face brick which has been covered with 
stucco. The second story windows are narrow rectangles with 
curved arches at the top. The cast iron lintels have integral 
keystones and extend partially down the sides of the windows. 
They also protrude from the building facade.

The old Boston Store building at 221 Main (now part of the 
J. C. Penney Co. store) is a three-story Renaissance structure 
with Classical detailing. The walls are constructed of rough 
faced stone and smooth cut stone with brick accents. Cut stone 
pilasters run the full height of the upper two stories and end 
in capitals which support the stone above. The spandrels and t
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7. infill above the top windows are of face brick laid in a dia­ 
gonal pattern to produce a decorative effect. The cornice is 
a simple cut stone affair with little detail. Window openings 
on the second and third floors are simple rectangles with double 
hung sash windows located between the two-story pilasters. Arch 
forms terminate the window openings at the cornice.

The Leev/#nelden's Men's Store at 225 Main is a one-story 
Neo-Vernacular structure with a facade of face brick. Either 
"this building replaced a two-story stone structure which is 
visible in pictures taken as late as 1909, or the present 
small building was modified from the earlier one.

The Village Shoppe building at 227 Main is a two-story 
Eclectic structure built of brown-painted face brick. Terminating 
the facade is a stamped metal cornice which has a triangular 
pediment in the center and is flanked by end brackets. The 
rectangular second floor windows are recessed in brick returns. 
Corbeled brackets enhance the top of each recessed area. x-x*'

The Downtowner Cafe at 229 Main is a two-story Renaissance 
structure with some Eclectic detailing. The walls are constructed 
of face brick which has been painted tan. A stamped metal cornice 
bearing the date 1887 terminates the wall at the roof and rests 
on corbeled brick brackets. The first floor windows are the 
typical store front type. The second floor windows are rectangles 
with curved cast iron lintels which extend partially down each 
side of the windows and have small pediments centered on each.

The Monarch Billiards building at 231 Main is a two-story 
Renaissance style structure built of face brick. A stamped metal 
cornice with coupled brackets accents the roof line. The rectan­ 
gular windows on the second floor are located in recessed brick 
areas. The top of the recess is decorated by a series of corbeled 
brick brackets.

The North American Hotel building at the corner of Third and 
Main provides the flanking element for the south end of the district. 
This structure is a five-story building constructed of face brick 
and contrasted with stone accents. A large dentiled cornice 
terminates the walls. Windows on all the upper stories are 
paired in rectangular openings. The sills are cut stone, and the 
lintels are soldier-coursed brick with stone accents at the corners 
and at the center. Brick pilasters which extend from the second 
floor level to the cornice give a vertical accent to the facades.

Comparison of photographs taken around the turn of the century 
with current views reveals the changes which have occurred in the 
buildings of the Downtown Ottawa Historic District. The most 
obvious changes are the removal of the large stamped metal 
from some structures, notably the old Boston Store at 221
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7 . Also gone are the ornamental iron work and balconies which some 
of the buildings sported at the turn of the century. A number 
of buildings have different types of signs, some flat against 
the building and others protruding at right angles from the build­ 
ing. The most altered building is the Pickrell Block at 209-211 
Main which formerly had a brick and stone front with decorative 
metal work and an ornate cornice and pediment but now has a stucco 
exterior and a theater marquee.

This commercial district is in good condition and is one of 
the few remaining business areas in Kansas which has not undergone 
extensive modernization. It is an outstanding extant example 
of the late nineteenth century commercial development which was 
formerly so typical in Kansas.

8. others were destroyed by fires. Although there remains a scat­ 
tering of the old commercial buildings throughout the business 
district, the_£nj.y_jnajpx,»c^n^^ the east side of the 
200 block of Main street. In addition the proposed architectural 
district includes the former People's National Bank building at 
135 Main. Located just south of this district is the courthouse 
square with an 1893 brick courthouse, a structure which has pre­ 
viously been entered on the National Register.

Several of the buildings in the district have been consider­ 
ably altered, most notably the Pickrell Block at 209-211 Main, 
which now houses the Plaza Theater. However, the majority of the 
15 structures have ncj^been extensively altered above the first <* 
fl°_9r ' Sympathetic renovation work has been done on one or two 
of the buildings, the former Bank of Ottawa building at 207 Main 
being the best example. Construction dates for buildings in the 
district range . f^^^7j2__for _th.e. ststucture at 205 Main to 1917 
for the North American Hotel at the southern limit of the district. 
Most of the buildings were erected in the 1880's.

The structures in this architectural district had an integral 
part in Ottawa's commercial development. Many of the leading 
businesses and prominent professional men of Ottawa either con­ 
structed or used the buildings in this district, and the growth 
of the city was materially aided by the banks and investment firms 
located here. At least three banks were situated in the area at 
one time or another: the People's National Bank from 1879 until 
recently at 135 Main, the Franklin County Bank in the 1870's at 
205 Main, and the Bank of Ottawa from 1886 to after the turn of 

ie century at 207 Main. A large number of real estate firms, land 
'anies, and investment companies rented first and second floor
e space in this block. Other businesses occupying first floor 
rooms prior to 1900 included clothing and dry goods stores,

1^'dware store, jewelry shops, restaurants, meat markets,
/ -- ,

^/>r-
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8. grocery stores, a harness shop, a hotel, a sporting goods shop, 
and a furniture store. Second floor office space throughout the 
district was used by doctors, dentists, lawyers, real estate 
firms, insurance agencies, cigar manufacturers, milliners, and 
newspaper and print shops. The Ottawa Opera House, various lodges, 
clubs, and other organizations such as the Y. M. C. A. had rooms 
or halls on the second and third floors. And prior to the con­ 
struction of the Franklin county courthouse in 1893, some of the 
elected county officials maintained offices in various buildings 
in the district.

The Franklin County Historical Society is actively working 
with the property owners in an effort to revitalize the area. 
Commercial activities are still located in almost all the build­ 
ings on the first floor, but many of the structures have second 
and third floors which are not in use, and the largest building, 
the five-story North American Hotel, is now vacant. Studies are 
planned to determine which of the community's needs could be filled 
by the adaptive restoration of some of these buildings. US-69, 
a heavily traveled north-south highway, coincides with Main street 
in Ottawa; therefore the potential for redeveloping the block as 
an area to attract visitors is being explored. Supporters of 
the project see it as an effort to make Ottawa unique and to cap­ 
italize on a business district different from the metal and glass- 
fronted commercial districts now so prevalent in every town. 

Considered individually, there is little that is unique 
about the 15 buildings in the Ottawa Historic District. A number 
of the buildings are rather interesting and attention-getting 
but in all likelihood do not merit National Register considera­ 
tion. However, considered as a group, these buildings are unique; 
at the present^J:ime_jiQ.,.Q.tker ..such concentration of 19th century 
commercial structures has yet been located in Kansas by the survey 
staff. Therefore, the district is deemed to be architecturally 
significant to the state/of Kansas, exemplifying as it does the 
19th century Renaissance commercial architecture once so dominant -* 
on the main streets of Kansas communities.
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